
 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

JAMES DOE and SUSAN DOE,  
individually and as guardians of JOHN DOE 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF  
DEFENSE, ASHTON B. CARTER,  
Secretary of Defense, DEFENSE HEALTH  
AGENCY, TRICARE, and HEALTH NET  
FEDERAL SERVICES, LLC 
 

Defendants. 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Civil No.  

 
Plaintiffs James Doe, Susan Doe, and John Doe respectfully state and allege as follows: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. John Doe, the son of a colonel in the United States Armed Forces, is a transgender 

boy, who relies on TRICARE, as administered by Health Net Federal Services, LLC 

(“Health Net”), for his health insurance coverage.  TRICARE1 is the health care program for 

Uniformed Service members of the United States military and their families around the world. 

2. Based on a visual examination, John was assigned female at birth, but since the 

age of two, he has asserted that he is male.  The incongruence between John’s assigned gender at 

birth and his affirmed gender has caused him severe and unremitting emotional pain.  As a result, 

John was diagnosed with gender dysphoria. 

3. Unsure of how to respond to John’s insistent, consistent, and persistent assertions 

that he is male, Susan and James initially thought it might be a phase.  For years, Susan and 
                                                 
1  Reference to “TRICARE” or “Health Net” is made throughout this Complaint; however, on information and 

belief, the United States and the Department of Defense, Secretary Ashton Carter at all times through the 
Defense Health Agency maintain authority, direction, and control over the administration of TRICARE, and are 
therefore implicated to the same extent. 

Case 3:16-cv-00640-SMY-DGW   Document 1   Filed 06/14/16   Page 1 of 38   Page ID #1

emalloy
Typewritten Text
3:16-cv-640

emalloy
Typewritten Text

emalloy
Typewritten Text

emalloy
Typewritten Text



 

  2 
 

James attempted to dress John in typical female clothing, but were met with significant 

resistance.  Starting to recognize that this was not a phase, Susan and James began educating 

themselves about the needs of children with gender dysphoria.  After reading about gender 

dysphoria in children and meeting with a psychologist, Susan and James assisted John in 

transitioning to live as a boy as one means to treat his gender dysphoria.  Following John’s 

transition, Susan and James watched John transform from being a sad, anxious child who 

isolated himself in social settings to one who is happy, confident, outgoing, and social. 

4. Consistent with the applicable standards of medical care, John began seeing 

a doctor to determine when it would be appropriate to begin a regimen of puberty-delaying 

medication to help reduce the psychological distress caused by developing unwanted secondary 

sex characteristics due to puberty and to treat this serious medical condition.  Puberty-delaying 

medication is the only safe and effective treatment for adolescents with gender dysphoria.  The 

purpose of this treatment is to provide a young person an opportunity to explore future treatment 

options for their gender dysphoria without the distress of developing the permanent, unwanted 

physical characteristics associated with their assigned gender.  The effects of the medication are 

fully reversible.  In contrast, the bodily changes associated with puberty can never be fully 

reversed and, if allowed to develop, will have a permanent, negative effect on the young person’s 

future treatment options and quality of life. 

5. John’s endocrinologist, Dr. David Dempsher, sought prior authorization for 

Supprelin, a commonly used puberty-delaying medication.  Coverage for the Supprelin was 

denied on March 28, 2016, based on TRICARE’s categorical exclusion of “[a]ll services and 

supplies directly or indirectly related to transsexualism or such other conditions as gender 

dysphoria are excluded under [TRICARE].  This exclusion includes, but is not limited to, 
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psychotherapy, prescription drugs, and intersex surgery.”  32 C.F.R. § 199.4(e)(7); TRICARE 

Policy Manual, Ch. 1, § 1.2.  The pharmacy that fills prescriptions for TRICARE then sought 

over $30,000 in reimbursement for the medication.  The Doe family was eventually allowed to 

return the Supprelin without charge, but still needed a puberty-delaying medication for John that 

would not put them in financial ruin and avert the serious harms John would experience if he had 

to go through puberty. 

6. Dr. Dempsher subsequently sought prior authorization for Vantas, which is nearly 

identical to Supprelin, but is significantly less expensive.  TRICARE denied that request on 

May 18, 2016.  However, instead of returning the medication, the Doe family purchased the 

Vantas implant for John to use when Dr. Dempsher recommended beginning puberty-delaying 

medication.  The Doe family paid $3,607.50 for the medication, not including any costs 

associated with inserting the implant into John’s arm or associated doctor’s visits.  Additionally, 

not ten days later, TRICARE denied a request for renewed coverage for Dr. Dempsher’s vital 

services. 

7. TRICARE continues to enforce its categorical exclusion of treatment for gender 

dysphoria despite knowing that transition-related care, such as puberty-delaying medication, is 

the standard of care for adolescents with gender dysphoria.  TRICARE’s unwarranted exclusion 

is based on outdated, unscientific, and prejudicial ideas about transgender people and the medical 

care they need. 

8. Recognizing the importance of starting the puberty-delaying medication in a 

timely manner, Susan and James decided to cover the cost of the medication and seek 

reimbursement to avoid any delay in treatment.  Without the drug, John would have experienced 

severe emotional distress and bodily changes that could cause permanent damage to his health 

and wellbeing. 
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9. Around this same time, TRICARE also relied upon its discriminatory exclusion 

for transition-related care to reverse course and begin refusing coverage for John’s 

endocrinology appointments, because they are part of his treatment for gender dysphoria.  

TRICARE refused coverage despite previously approving coverage for those visits in 2012, 

2013, and 2014.  It was only in 2015 that TRICARE abruptly reversed course, not only 

beginning to deny coverage based on the categorical exclusion, but also demanding repayment 

for the benefits paid in previous years. 

10. TRICARE has also reversed course and refused coverage for Susan and James’s 

visits to a psychologist to help guide them in supporting John’s transition.  The visits to the 

psychologist significantly helped the family navigate John’s transition and understand the 

various issues that may arise for a transgender child.  Once again, TRICARE initially provided 

coverage for the visits, then unexpectedly demanded that John’s family reimburse TRICARE for 

those benefits. 

11. As a result, John’s family was forced to pay out of pocket for John’s 

puberty-delaying medication and appointments with healthcare providers to address John’s 

gender dysphoria. 

12. TRICARE’s decisions and the policies that underlie these decisions violate 

Section 1557 of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“Section 1557”), and the equal 

protection and substantive due process guarantees of the Fifth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution. 

13. Both the Department of Defense and other federal agencies have recognized that 

blanket exclusions for transition-related care, like that in the TRICARE Policy Manual, are 

outdated, unsupportable, and discriminate against transgender people on the basis of gender 
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identity and disability.  The Department of Defense has proposed a rule that would “remove the 

categorical exclusion on treatment of gender dysphoria.”  That position is consistent with other 

federal agencies that provide health care services or administer and regulate health care plans. 

14. John and his family cannot and should not have to wait while a determination is 

made on whether to finalize the proposed rule, and if so, in what form.  The current policy is 

discriminatory and prohibited by federal statutory and constitutional law. 

15. John and his family seek both money damages sufficient to cover the medication 

and visits TRICARE has refused to cover and a declaration that TRICARE’s policies violate 

Section 1557 and the individual protections afforded by the Fifth Amendment and are therefore 

invalid. 

16. John and his family also seek injunctive relief permanently enjoining TRICARE 

from discriminating against John and his family on the basis of John’s gender identity. 

17. Finally, John and his family seek an invalidation of the discriminatory, illegal, 

and unconstitutional TRICARE policies that underlie the categorical exclusion of gender 

dysphoria as a covered diagnosis for treatment. 

THE PARTIES 

18. Plaintiff John Doe is a ten-year-old transgender boy.  John resides in southern 

Illinois with his parents and brings this action through his mother, Susan Doe, and father, James 

Doe. 

19. Plaintiff James Doe is an officer of the United States military with a twenty-seven 

year history of exemplary service.  Because of James’s service to this country, James, John, and 

Susan receive healthcare coverage through TRICARE.  James resides in southern Illinois with 

Susan and John. 
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20. Plaintiff Susan Doe is John’s mother.  Susan also resides in southern Illinois with 

her family. 

21. Defendant Ashton B. Carter is the Secretary of Defense to the United States, and 

pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 702 is in charge of the administration of TRICARE.  As such, he is under 

a duty to ensure that TRICARE is administered properly and in accordance with the Constitution 

and laws of the United States.  Defendant Carter maintains the ultimate authority, direction, and 

control over the Department of Defense, including the TRICARE health benefits program.  

Defendant Carter is sued in his official capacity. 

22. Defendant the United States Department of Defense, located at 

1400 Defense Pentagon, Washington, DC 20301-1400, is an agency of the United States 

government.  The Defense Health Agency is a support agency within the Department of Defense, 

which administers the TRICARE health care program under the authority delegated to it by the 

Secretary of Defense. 

23. Defendant United States is named as a defendant pursuant to 

5 U.S.C. §§ 702-703, because this is an action for judicial review of agency actions that have 

affected Plaintiffs adversely. 

24. Defendant TRICARE is the health care program that covers John, James, and 

Susan.  The administration of TRICARE is based out of the Defense Health Agency. 

25. Defendant Defense Health Agency, located at 7700 Arlington Boulevard, 

Suite 5101, Falls Church, Virginia 22042-5101, is the organization within the Department of 

Defense that is charged with management responsibility for the TRICARE Health Plan. 

26. Defendant Health Net Federal Services, LLC is the third-party administrator for 

TRICARE benefits in the North Region, which includes Illinois.  On information and belief, 
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Health Net is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of 

Virginia, with a registered agent at 4701 Cox Road, Suite 285, Glenn Allen, Virginia 23060. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

27. The present action arises out of, inter alia, Defendants’ final agency actions 

denying health care coverage to Plaintiffs and seeking reimbursement for benefits previously 

paid to Drs. Dempsher and Rosen in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 18116 and the Due Process Clause 

of the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

28. Subject matter jurisdiction is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

29. The Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) provides for judicial review of final 

agency actions under 5 U.S.C. § 701, et seq. 

30. Venue is appropriate in the Southern District of Illinois under 

28 U.S.C. § 1391(e). 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. Gender Identity Development and Gender Dysphoria 

31. Gender identity is a person’s inner sense of belonging to a particular gender, such 

as male or female.  It is a deeply felt and core component of human identity.  American 

Psychiatric Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 451 (5th ed. 

2013) (hereinafter “DSM-5”).  Everyone has a gender identity, and for most people, their gender 

identity is consistent with the gender they were assigned at birth.  Transgender people have a 

gender identity, or affirmed gender, that is different from the gender they were assigned or 

assumed to be at birth. 

32. At birth, infants are classified as male or female based on a cursory observation of 

their external genitalia.  This classification becomes the person’s birth-assigned gender, but may 

not be the same as the person’s gender identity.  Children typically become aware of their gender 
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identity between the ages of two and four years old.  DSM-5 at 455.  Around this age, 

transgender children often begin to express their cross-gender identification to their family 

members and caregivers through statements (e.g., “I was born in the wrong body”; “I have a girl 

brain and a boy body”) and actions (e.g., dressing up and engaging in activities in a manner 

consistent with their gender identity).  The medical diagnosis of gender dysphoria refers to the 

severe and unremitting emotional pain resulting from this incongruity.  People diagnosed with 

gender dysphoria have an intense and persistent discomfort with the primary and secondary sex 

characteristics of their assigned gender.  Gender dysphoria is a serious medical condition 

codified in the DSM-5 and the World Health Organization’s International Classification of 

Diseases. 

33. The way in which a child with gender dysphoria expresses himself or herself 

differs greatly from children engaging in age-appropriate imaginative play; children expressing a 

gender identity that is different than their assigned gender exhibit a strong cross-gender 

identification that is insistent, persistent, and consistent.  Although uncommon, a gender identity 

that is inconsistent with one’s gender assigned at birth is a normal variation of human diversity. 

34. Gender dysphoria was previously referred to as gender identity disorder.  The 

American Psychiatric Association changed the name and diagnostic criteria for this condition to 

reflect that gender dysphoria “is more descriptive than the previous DSM-IV term gender 

identity disorder and focuses on dysphoria as the clinical problem, not identity per se.”  DSM-5 

at 451. 

35. When provided with the love, support, and affirmation that all children need, 

transgender children thrive and grow into healthy adults who have the same capacity for 

happiness, achievement, and contributing to society as others.  For these youth, that means 
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supporting their need to live in a manner consistent with their gender identity, as opposed to their 

assigned gender, which may include access to appropriate medical treatment to relieve the 

distress associated with gender dysphoria. 

36. When parents and caregivers discourage or do not allow a child to express 

cross-gender identification, or do not validate or accept the child’s gender identity, the child 

experiences psychological distress.  The child can internalize that distress, causing the child to 

suppress his or her gender identity and become introverted, or externalize it, resulting in the child 

developing behavioral issues.  In either scenario, rejection or disapproval by the child’s parents, 

family, and caregivers leads to serious mental health consequences for the child, marked by 

symptoms such as low self-esteem, anxiety, depression, self-harming behaviors, and suicidal 

ideation. 

37. These harmful symptoms interfere with the child’s healthy development across all 

domains.  As a result, a child whose gender identity is not affirmed will likely have difficulty 

developing and maintaining healthy interpersonal relationships with family as well as peers.  

Similarly, once that child enters school, the lack of familial support can have a detrimental effect 

on the child’s ability to focus in class and learn. 

38. The longer these symptoms are allowed to persist without addressing the 

underlying gender dysphoria, the more significant and long-lasting the negative consequences 

can become.  For example, a recent survey of transgender people revealed forty-six percent of 

transgender men had previously attempted suicide, a rate that is more than twenty-five times the 

national average.  Ann P. Haas, et al., Suicide Attempts among Transgender and Gender 

Non-Conforming Adults, The Williams Institute 2 (2014); Jaime M. Grant, et al., Injustice at 

Every Turn:  A Report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey 82 (2011); see also 
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Arnold H. Grossman, et al., Transgender Youth and Life-Threatening Behaviors, 37 Suicide & 

Life-Threatening Behavior 527, 533-537 (2007).  The National Transgender Discrimination 

Survey found that over one quarter of respondents used drugs and alcohol to cope with the 

mistreatment they experienced based on their gender identity.  Grant, supra, at 81; see also 

Caitlyn Ryan, Supportive Families, Healthy Children:  Helping Families with Lesbian, Gay, 

Bisexual & Transgender Children 5-7 (2009). 

39. Part of affirming a transgender child’s gender identity is ensuring that the child 

has access to treatment for their gender dysphoria, namely undergoing a gender transition in 

order to alleviate the distress caused by gender dysphoria and to live in alignment with their core 

gender identity. 

40. The goal of treatment is to enable a transgender person to live authentically, based 

on their core gender identity, and typically involves bringing the person’s body and social 

presentation into alignment with the person’s gender.  Treatment does not make a transgender 

person more of a man or more of a woman; rather, the person’s gender identity already exists.  

Treatment creates more alignment between the person’s identity and their appearance, 

attenuating the dysphoria and symptoms. 

41. Health care providers recognize that when a child has strong and persistent 

cross-gender identification, which is typically associated with gender dysphoria, “social 

transition” improves that child’s mental health and reduces the risk that the child will engage in 

self-harming behaviors.  Kristina Olson, et al., Mental Health of Transgender Children who are 

Supported in Their Identities, 137 Pediatrics 1 (2016).  Social transition involves changes that 

bring the child’s outer appearance and lived experience into alignment with their affirmed 

gender.  That includes wearing clothes, using a name and pronouns, and interacting with peers 
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and one’s social environment in a manner that matches the child’s affirmed gender.  For most 

children, living and interacting with others consistently with their lived experience of who they 

are provides tremendous and immediate relief, because prior to puberty, there are few, if any, 

observable differences between boys and girls apart from the social and cultural conventions 

such as dress or hairstyle which, while distinct, children can adopt regardless of their 

birth-assigned gender. 

42. Regardless of whether a child has socially transitioned or not, children with strong 

and persistent cross-gender identification typically experience a significant level of distress 

leading up to the start of puberty.  That distress is caused by the realization that their bodies will 

begin to develop secondary sex characteristics that are inconsistent with their gender identity.  

Those secondary sex characteristics are not only regular reminders of the incongruence between 

their gender identity and physical body, but also are observable differences that mark that person 

as male or female to others, including peers. 

43. Around the onset of puberty, transgender youth often take special precautions to 

hide their developing bodies with the hope of presenting to the outside world a body that is 

consistent with their gender identity.  For example, transgender boys use clothing and other 

materials to flatten the contours of their chest.  Those materials can be tight, constricting, and 

uncomfortable.  The physical discomfort these articles cause can add to a young person’s overall 

level of distress; however, the distress and discomfort caused by not taking those additional 

precautions far outweighs the drawbacks. 

44. To alleviate what might otherwise be incapacitating distress and give a young 

person the opportunity to develop a strong, positive sense of self, health care providers have 

developed a standard of care for delaying pubertal development in children experiencing gender 

Case 3:16-cv-00640-SMY-DGW   Document 1   Filed 06/14/16   Page 11 of 38   Page ID #11



 

  12 
 

dysphoria.  Drawing from more than thirty years of experience using puberty-delaying 

medication in children with precocious puberty (a condition in which a child begins puberty too 

soon), doctors prescribe those same medications when appropriate to delay the puberty of 

children with gender dysphoria. 

45. Accepted evidence-based standards of care recognize that puberty-delaying 

medications are medically necessary and the only safe and effective treatment for delaying 

puberty in transgender youth.  For example, the Endocrine Society, a professional organization 

devoted to research on hormones and the clinical practice of endocrinology, and the World 

Professional Association for Transgender Health, an international multidisciplinary professional 

association to promote evidence-based care, education, research, advocacy, public policy, and 

respect in transgender health, both support use of puberty-delaying medications in transgender 

adolescents. 

46. This class of puberty-delaying medications, also known as gonadotropin-releasing 

hormone analogues (hereinafter “GnRH analogues”), signal to a person’s body not to produce 

pubertal hormones (i.e. testosterone or estrogen), effectively stopping pubertal development at its 

source.  As a result, GnRH analogues prevent a transgender boy from developing breasts, 

feminine facial features, and beginning menstruation, among other unwanted secondary sex 

characteristics and effects of puberty.  The standard of care recommends administering GnRH 

analogues at the onset of puberty, which prevents a young person from experiencing the physical 

and psychological distress described above. 

47. The effects of these puberty-delaying medications are entirely reversible with no 

long-term consequences.  If a young person stops taking these medications, his or her body will 
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begin pubertal development within six months.  In contrast, the effects of permitting puberty to 

proceed can never be fully reversed. 

48. Pubertal development occurs incrementally in what are called “Tanner Stages.”  

There are a total of five Tanner Stages, and all children start in Tanner I.  The initial rush of 

pubertal hormones that marks the beginning of puberty is defined as Tanner II.  In addition to 

hormonal changes, Tanner II is identified by physical changes, particularly breast budding or 

testicular enlargement.  The standards of care call for health care providers to prescribe the 

GnRH analogues as soon as a child begins Tanner II to halt any further pubertal development.  If 

started early enough, GnRH analogues will not only prevent menstruation, but also may cause 

the breast buds to recede. 

49. GnRH analogues act as a “pause button” on a young person’s pubertal 

development, giving the person the opportunity to explore future treatment options for their 

gender dysphoria without the distress of developing the permanent, unwanted physical 

characteristics of their birth-assigned gender.  During this time, the young person will work with 

his or her family and health care providers to develop a treatment plan to address the child’s 

gender dysphoria that is tailored to that person’s needs. 

50. The use of GnRH analogues to delay puberty in youth experiencing gender 

dysphoria is the only known safe and effective treatment for gender dysphoria.  Mental health 

services and psychotropic medications alone are not sufficient to avert the serious psychological 

damage caused by requiring a young person with gender dysphoria to undergo a puberty that is 

incongruent with his or her gender identity.  Moreover, those services cannot halt the physical 

changes that underlie the psychological distress.  Thus, withholding this treatment is not a neutral 

option:  failure to provide the treatment would result not only in intensified psychological harm 

Case 3:16-cv-00640-SMY-DGW   Document 1   Filed 06/14/16   Page 13 of 38   Page ID #13



 

  14 
 

to John, but also in irreversible, unwanted physical changes that would have a permanent 

negative impact on his later treatment options and quality of life. 

II. John’s Transgender Identification 

51. Nearly since the time he was able to speak, John has firmly expressed his 

knowledge that he is a boy.  As he grew, John began to match his appearance and behaviors to 

his male identity.  For instance, after observing his male friend using the bathroom, John made 

several attempts to urinate while standing, becoming increasingly distressed when his parents 

grew upset at the mess this made.  It was only when John’s father demonstrated that it was 

acceptable for a boy to urinate while sitting down that John’s anxiety over using the restroom 

was somewhat alleviated. 

52. John also refused to dress in clothes typically associated with girls, only wearing 

boys’ clothing and underwear.  John insisted on wearing a set of boys’ swim trunks whenever his 

family took trips to the beach or the pool, and he took off the UV protective shirt he had been 

given whenever possible.  John’s hair was another means with which he could express himself – 

when his mother relented to his pleas to cut his hair very short, John’s self-image significantly 

improved.  John would also stuff his underwear with toilet paper to ensure that strangers would 

see him as a boy. 

53. Because of the way he dressed, John was often addressed as a boy by strangers in 

public.  In response, he asked his mother to call him a male name; when John’s mother 

occasionally slipped and called him by his female name, John would become upset.  It became 

increasingly clear to John’s parents that this was not simply a “phase,” and that John was not just 

a “tomboy.” 

54. In March 2009, Susan was running late to get John to school, and with no clean 

pants for him to wear, she asked, then begged him to wear a skirt with shorts underneath instead.  
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As frustrations mounted, John’s mother finally shouted, “Just put on the dress!  Who cares what 

you wear?”  In tears, John responded, “But mom, I care!”  It was at this point that John’s family 

soberly started down the path to affirming John’s gender identity, eventually assisting him to 

transition. 

55. John’s transition did not occur overnight, nor was it always a smooth process.  For 

example, the summer after John transitioned socially, he joined a swim team.  Parents 

complained about John’s use of the male restrooms, and the coach did not want John on the 

team.  Despite John’s love of the water and swimming, he quit the team because of the pressure 

from others. 

56. John has similarly been shunned by members of his own extended family, who 

neither support nor understand John’s transition.  While John and his parents once had a strong 

bond with James’s parents, the relationship changed when John began his transition.  John’s 

paternal grandparents first objected to his change in clothing, and were overtly uncomfortable 

when John swam in boys’ swim trunks.  Once he publicly transitioned, John’s grandparents 

nearly cut off all ties with him, which has been painful for both John and his parents. 

57. John and his family were similarly turned away from their church after seeking 

help and refuge in navigating John’s transition.  Rather than finding support, John’s family was 

told not to encourage or affirm his behavior, and John was barred from using the boys’ restroom 

at the church. 

58. Outcast by their church and family members, who had no familiarity with or 

understanding of transgender people, James and Susan turned to Dr. Dean Rosen, a clinical 

psychologist, for help.  Dr. Rosen provided the guidance that James and Susan needed to learn 

how to help support John and to work as a team through potential conflicts that surfaced with 
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non-affirming family members and society.  Seeing Dr. Rosen was a vital part of helping John 

become the confident, happy person he is today. 

III. John’s Need for Puberty-Delaying Medication and Further Psychotherapy 

59. Despite his social transition (e.g., his changes in dress and hairstyle), John began 

to feel distress as he approached puberty.  When John begins puberty, he will develop breasts, 

wider hips, and begin menstruation, a prospect which has caused increasing anxiety for John.  In 

anticipation of puberty, and generally to make sure that John was receiving the proper care, 

James and Susan started bringing John to an endocrinologist, Dr. David Dempsher, in October 

2012. 

60. As described supra in paragraph 48, pubertal development occurs incrementally 

in what are known as “Tanner Stages.”  There are five total Tanner Stages throughout any 

person’s life, and all people begin life and continue through childhood in Tanner Stage I.  When 

a child enters puberty and experiences the attendant physical and hormonal changes associated 

with puberty, the child is entering Tanner Stage II.  For a child born with ovaries, entering 

Tanner Stage II is typically characterized by breast budding. 

61. According to Dr. Dempsher, John is currently entering the beginning phases of 

Tanner Stage II.  John has begun to show concern over the prospect of breast development, and 

he constantly seeks reassurance from his mother that his breasts have not begun to grow.  John 

has also expressed that he does not want to become pregnant; instead, he wants to be a dad when 

he gets older.  When he was younger, John experienced embarrassment and depression when his 

parents would accidentally refer to him by his female name in public; today, John is likewise 

fearful of having intimate details about his body and medical history exposed if he is unable to 

keep his body in close alignment with his male gender identity. 

Case 3:16-cv-00640-SMY-DGW   Document 1   Filed 06/14/16   Page 16 of 38   Page ID #16



 

  17 
 

62. Because of these fears, John’s parents sought Dr. Dempsher’s professional 

assistance to not only help educate John and his family in the medical options available, but also 

to assist in treating John to delay his puberty. 

63. In light of the potentially devastating effects that will result if John continues 

through puberty without treatment, it is crucial that he continue to receive treatment from 

Dr. Dempsher.  Dr. Dempsher’s office has become a safe haven for John and his family, as 

Dr. Dempsher has provided and can continue to provide medical advice and treatment to John 

throughout this period of change. 

IV. Insurance Exclusions for Transition-Related Health Care Services 

64. Beginning in the late 1970s and 1980s, transgender people used various federal 

laws to obtain legal protection from discrimination and access to medically necessary 

transition-related care.  See, e.g., Pinneke v. Preisser, 623 F.2d 546 (8th Cir. 1980).  In response, 

the federal government began excluding transgender people from the protections of federal law.  

See, e.g., 42 U.S.C. § 12221(b)(1); 29 U.S.C. § 705(20)(F)(i).  And, the private insurance 

industry followed suit.  On information and belief, it was around this time that Defendant 

Department of Defense first issued its regulation excluding transition-related care from coverage 

for military members and their dependents. 

65. Until recently, those industry-wide exclusions effectively denied transgender 

people medically appropriate treatment for gender dysphoria.  Recognizing the medical necessity 

of this care, states and the federal government are now requiring insurance companies to expand 

coverage for transition-related care.  For example, a number of states, including Illinois, have 

begun to enforce state anti-discrimination laws, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of 

gender identity, to require insurance companies to remove transition-related care exclusions from 
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the policies sold within that state.  Those changes have applied in both private and public health 

insurance. 

66. On the federal level, the Federal Employees Health Benefits Plan eliminated 

categorical exclusions from the plans serving federal employees and their dependents, a change 

that took effect in January 2016.  Consistent with that change, the United States Department of 

Health and Human Services imbedded strong protections for transgender people seeking 

insurance coverage for transition-related care in its final regulations implementing Section 1557, 

the non-discrimination provision of the Affordable Care Act.  Those regulations expressly define 

sex discrimination to include discrimination on the basis of gender identity and prohibits entities 

subject to Section 1557 from “[h]av[ing] or implement[ing] a categorical coverage exclusion or 

limitation for all health services related to gender transition.”  45 C.F.R. § 92.207(b)(4). 

67. The TRICARE exclusion of all transition-related care is another vestige of the 

bygone era where such exclusions were the industry standard.  In October 1984, Congress 

amended the statute pertaining to the scope of coverage for the military health benefits to include 

exclusions for “[t]herapy or counseling for sexual dysfunctions or sexual inadequacies” and 

“surgery which improves the physical appearance but is not expected to significantly restore 

functions,” including a reference to “sex gender changes.”  P.L. 98-525, § 1401(3) (codified as 

10 U.S.C. §§ 1079(a)(10) & (12)). 

68. Exercising its authority to interpret federal law pertaining to the Department of 

Defense, on or about July 1986, Defendant Department of Defense issued a final rule excluding 

“[a]ll services and supplies directly or indirectly related to transsexualism (or such other 

conditions as gender dysphoria) . . . .  This exclusion includes, but is not limited to, 

psychotherapy, prescription drugs, and intersex surgery that may be provided in connection with 
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transsexualism or hermaphroditism.”  32 C.F.R. § 199.4(e)(7) (1986).  That exclusion was also 

repeated at 32 C.F.R. § 199.4(g)(29) (1986).  Both of those exclusions remain codified in the 

statute and regulations with substantially similar language.  10 U.S.C. § 1079(a)(9) & (11) 

(2016); 32 C.F.R. §§ 199.4(e)(7) & (g)(29) (2016). 

69. That exclusionary language is parroted throughout the Tricare Policy Manual, a 

manual that details the scope of TRICARE benefits and is used by third-party administrators, 

such as Defendant Health Net, to make coverage determinations.  For example, in the section 

titled “Sexual Dysfunctions, Paraphilias, And Gender Identity Disorders,” the manual states that 

“[s]ervices and supplies provided in connection with psychotherapy for sexual dysfunctions, 

Paraphilias, and gender identify disorders are specifically excluded from cost sharing.  This 

includes therapy that is wholly or partially related to treating the sexual dysfunctions, paraphilias 

(e.g., transvestic fetishism) or gender identity disorder, such as sex therapy, sexual advice, 

sexual counseling, sex behavior modification, psychotherapy, or other similar services.”  

TRICARE Policy Manual, Ch. 7, § 1.1(emphasis added). 

V. Defendants’ Refusal to Cover Treatment Under TRICARE 

70. TRICARE provides health insurance coverage for military personnel, military 

retirees, and their families, which totals over nine million people worldwide.  Defendant Defense 

Health Agency contracts with third-party administrators, one of which is Health Net, to assist in 

administering those benefits to members throughout the United States. 

71. Under TRICARE, members cannot simply go to a specialist, such as an 

endocrinologist or clinical psychologist.  Rather, the member’s Primary Care Manager must first 

determine whether a particular health care need can be met by the services available on the 

member’s base.  When a TRICARE member requires health care services that are only offered 

off base, the Primary Care Manager must notify the TRICARE administrator for that region.  

Case 3:16-cv-00640-SMY-DGW   Document 1   Filed 06/14/16   Page 19 of 38   Page ID #19



 

  20 
 

The third-party administrator then determines what, if any, services the member is permitted to 

receive based on whether the service is medically necessary, delivered in an appropriate setting, 

and is a covered TRICARE benefit.  This authorization must also be periodically renewed. 

72. The Doe family followed this prescribed protocol prior to bringing John to 

Dr. Dempsher and before Susan and James met with Dr. Rosen.  And, consistent with that 

protocol, the Doe family renewed their approval for those services, when needed.  Despite the 

TRICARE Policy Manual’s categorical exclusion of these services, Health Net approved the Doe 

family’s claims for coverage from October 2012 to October 2015.  Throughout that three-year 

span, Defendants never notified the Doe family of the existence of the exclusion. 

73. Following the protocol she had established over the previous three years, on 

October 11, 2015, Susan requested a referral renewal to Dr. Dempsher’s office by phone from 

the Primary Care Physician Nurse.  Ex. A.  Although all prior requests for coverage had been 

approved by TRICARE, two days later, on October 13, 2015 the request was unexpectedly 

denied.  Ex. B.  For the first time, Health Net cited the exclusion for transition-related care in the 

TRICARE Policy Manual as the basis for denying coverage. 

74. On or about November 2, 2015, Susan appealed that denial through Health Net 

services.  Ex. C.  In the appeal, Susan cited two reasons that her request should be granted:  

(1) the medical care provided by Dr. Dempsher (including the medicine requested) is a medically 

necessary, safe, and effective treatment for John’s gender dysphoria; and (2) continuing to deny 

such medically necessary care constitutes unlawful discrimination based on John’s gender 

identity.  Specifically, Susan cited to Section 1557 in support of her assertion of unlawful 

discrimination. 
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75. By letter, dated November 23, 2015, Health Net informed Susan that the denial 

would be upheld, because Dr. Dempsher’s treatment was “not a TRICARE benefit,” and 

reiterating its reliance on the exclusion of all transition-related care in the TRICARE Policy 

Manual.  Ex. D.  In its response, the reviewer wrote “while we have determined that the services 

cannot be covered under TRICARE benefits, we found that there were concerns about the 

benefits and ‘unlawful discrimination’ concerns due to benefit denial(s).”  Id. 

76. On November 25, 2015, presumably in recognition of its independent obligation 

not to discriminate, Health Net wrote a letter to Susan stating that its Grievance Department was 

considering her “concerns” over the denial of the benefit and would have a completed review 

within 60 days.  Ex. E. 

77. On December 22, 2015, TRICARE, through Health Net, issued yet another denial 

of Susan’s appeal, affirming its previously asserted grounds for denial.  Ex. F. 

78. On January 13, 2016, TRICARE issued a “revised determination letter,” 

reassessing and denying all backdated claims (including John’s visits to his endocrinologist, 

Dr. Dempsher, and his clinical psychologist, Dr. Rosen, dating back to December 5, 2012), again 

based on the transition-related care exclusion.  Ex. G. 

79. The Does have appealed each of those denials to the extent permitted under the 

TRICARE rules and regulations and therefore exhausted their administrative remedies in their 

effort to challenge the policy leading to the denials of benefits. 

80. Most recently, in a letter dated May 27, 2016, TRICARE through Health Net 

again denied the Does permission to see Dr. Dempsher.  As an excuse, the letter cites the same 

discriminatory language used in past denials from the TRICARE Policy Manual, namely, that 
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TRICARE excludes “cost share for services and suppliers provided in connection with 

psychotherapy for sexual dysfunction, paraphilias, and gender identity disorders. . . .”  Ex. H. 

81. TRICARE’s denials of care to John were unwarranted and discriminatory and 

came at a critical time in John’s medical treatment and development.  As John was quickly 

progressing toward puberty, Susan and James first realized that TRICARE would refuse to cover 

any medically necessary treatment for John’s transition, including puberty-delaying medication.  

As a result of that denial, Susan and James are responsible for paying out of pocket for all of 

John’s care despite having a healthcare plan intended to provide comprehensive coverage to 

active and retired members of the military and their families.  In their time of greatest need, the 

Doe family would get no support from the government James has faithfully served for nearly 

thirty years. 

82. As John’s progression toward puberty continued, Susan and James requested that 

Dr. Dempsher prescribe the puberty-delaying medication for John so that it would be ready for 

him when he needed it.  On or about March 14, 2016, Dr. Dempsher submitted a prior 

authorization request for Supprelin, an implant that contains the GnRH analogue, histrelin 

acetate.  On March 31, 2016, again applying the transition-related care exclusion, Health Net 

denied coverage for the only known, safe and effective treatment for gender dysphoria in 

adolescents.  Ex. I. 

83. Desperate to halt the progress of John’s puberty, on May 16, 2016, John and his 

family applied, through Dr. Dempsher, for Vantas, another GnRH analogue, also formulated 

using histrelin acetate.  On May 18, 2016, the claim for coverage was denied by TRICARE when 

the Does’ pharmacy attempted to process the request.  Because of the Does’ desperate situation, 
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they had no choice but to bear the burden of paying for the Vantas themselves, costing them 

$3,607.50 for one implant, which is expected to last approximately twelve months. 

84. Despite excluding coverage for GnRH analogues to treat gender dysphoria, 

TRICARE and Health Net regularly cover those medications for other medical conditions such 

as precocious puberty, prostate cancer, and endometriosis.  The letter denying coverage for 

Supprelin provides no justification for this difference in coverage other than TRICARE’s ban on 

transition-related care. 

85. The unlawfulness of TRICARE’s denials of the Does’ claims is accentuated by 

Illinois’ own state regulations prohibiting discrimination.  Illinois law provides that group health 

insurance plans “shall not discriminate on the basis of an insured’s or prospective insured’s 

actual or perceived gender identity,” which includes “provisions that exclude from, limit, charge 

a higher rate for, or deny a claim for coverage of hospital and medical benefits for gender 

dysphoria if benefits covered by the policy are provided for other medical conditions.”  

50 Ill. Adm. Code 2603.35(a)(2).  Additionally, all insurers operating in Illinois were explicitly 

warned over 20 months ago that denials based upon “actual or perceived . . . gender-related 

identity,” such as TRICARE’s actions against the Does’ here, violated not only Section 1557, but 

the Illinois Human Rights Act (IHRA) as well.  Letter from Andrew Boron (Director of the 

Illinois Department of Insurance) dated July 28, 2014, attached as Ex. J.  While there is no 

private right of action provided under either Illinois law provision, the prohibition against the 

specific type of discrimination exhibited by TRICARE here is abundantly clear. 

86. In addition to Illinois’ rejection of TRICARE’s discrimination against people with 

gender dysphoria, the Department of Defense itself—a named defendant—recently 

acknowledged that this is a serious legal problem in need of correction.  On February 1, 2016, 
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the Department published a proposed rule change in the Federal Register that would expressly 

prohibit TRICARE’s denials of coverage detailed herein.  Specifically, the proposed change 

reads: 

This rulemaking proposes to remove the categorical exclusion on 
treatment of gender dysphoria.  This proposed change will permit 
coverage of all non-surgical medically necessary and appropriate 
care in the treatment of gender dysphoria, consistent with the 
program requirements applicable for treatment of all mental or 
physical illnesses.  Surgical care remains prohibited by statute at 
10 U.S.C. 1079(a)(11). 

See “A COLA Hike for Some, Transgender Coverage for Others,” Government Executive 

(Feb. 3, 2016), available at http://www.govexec.com/pay-benefits/pay-benefits- 

watch/2016/02/cola-hike-some-transgender-coverage-others/125658/ (emphasis added).  While it 

is not clear when, or if, this proposed rule will be finalized, its proposal by the Department 

indicates not only that the federal government is equally aware of the unlawful and 

unconstitutional discrimination currently at the heart of TRICARE policy, but that a named 

defendant admits the relevant policy impermissibly excludes coverage for medically necessary 

and appropriate care for John and other dependents of military personnel experiencing gender 

dysphoria. 

87. Statements made by Defendant Carter himself support the notion that such 

government discrimination against transgender persons should end.  Calling for a review of the 

ban on transgender service members in the United States, Defendant Carter was quoted as 

stating, “We have transgender soldiers, sailors, airmen, and Marines—real, patriotic 

Americans—who I know are being hurt by an outdated, confusing, inconsistent approach that’s 

contrary to our value of service and individual merit.”  See Travis J. Tritten, “DOD Wants 

Transgender Tricare Coverage,” Stars and Stripes (Feb. 1, 2016), available at 

http://www.stripes.com/news/dod-wants-transgender-tricare-coverage-1.391637.  John, the child 
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of a colonel in the United States Air Force, is also being hurt—solely on the basis of his 

transgender status—by the outdated, confusing, inconsistent approach to medical care applied by 

Defendants. 

COUNT I 
(Discrimination Based on Sex in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 18116) 

88. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 87 above. 

89. Section 1557, which is codified at 42 U.S.C. § 18116, provides that: 

Except as otherwise provided for in this title (or an amendment 
made by this title), an individual shall not, on the ground 
prohibited under . . . title IX of the Education Amendments of 
1972 (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq.) . . . be excluded from participation 
in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination 
under, any health program or activity, any part of which is 
receiving Federal financial assistance, including credits, subsidies, 
or contracts of insurance, or under any program or activity that is 
administered by an Executive Agency or any entity established 
under this title (or amendments).  The enforcement mechanisms 
provided for and available under . . . title IX . . . shall apply for 
purposes of violations of this subsection. 

90. The Office of Civil Rights has explicitly stated that Section 1557’s prohibition of 

sex discrimination “extends to claims of discrimination based on gender identity or failure to 

conform to stereotypical notions of masculinity or femininity.”  Letter from Leon Rodriguez, 

Dir. of Office for Civil Rights, Dep’t of Health & Human Services, to Maya Rupert, Fed. Pol’y 

Dir., Nat’l Center for Lesbian Rights (July 12, 2012) (OCR Transaction No. 12-000800); Rumble 

v. Fairview Health Servs., No. 14-CV-2037 SRN/FLN, 2015 WL 1197415, at *10 (D. Minn. 

Mar. 16, 2015) (finding the OCR letter from Leon Rodriguez persuasive). 

91. On May 13, 2016, the United States Department of Health and Human Services 

issued its final regulations implementing Section 1557.  Those regulations expressly provide that 

Section 1557’s prohibition on sex discrimination includes discrimination on the basis of gender 
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identity and sex stereotypes, 45 C.F.R. § 92.4, and delineate specific protections to ensure that 

transgender people are not discriminated against in access to health insurance coverage for 

transition-related care, 45 C.F.R. § 92.207.  In particular, the regulations define the scope of 

prohibited discriminatory conduct to include:  “[h]av[ing] or implement[ing] a categorical 

coverage exclusion or limitation for all health services related to gender transition;” and 

“deny[ing] or limit[ing] coverage . . . for specific health services related to gender transition if 

such denial, limitation, or restriction results in discrimination against a transgender individual.” 

45 C.F.R. §§ 92.207(b)(4), (b)(5).  Those regulations are also consistent with Title IX of the 

Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq. and its implementing regulations, 

which prohibits sex discrimination in education programs that receive federal financial assistance 

and is referenced as the source of the prohibition on sex discrimination in Section 1557.  For 

example, in G.G. v. Gloucester County School Board, the Fourth Circuit reversed the dismissal 

of a transgender student’s Title IX claim for sex discrimination, holding that the United States 

Department of Education’s interpretation of its regulations to include a prohibition against 

discrimination on the basis of gender identity is entitled to Auer deference.  --- F.3d ---, 

2016 WL 1567467 at *8 (Apr. 19, 2016). 

92. The United States Department of Education and Department of Justice further 

clarified that position on May 13, 2016, releasing joint guidance on Title IX and transgender 

students.  That guidance explicitly stated that that Title IX’s prohibition of sex discrimination 

protects students against discrimination on the basis of gender identity.  Failing to comply could 

jeopardize the school district’s federal funds. 
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93. As a transgender person, John Doe has a right under Section 1557 to receive 

health care services, including health insurance coverage, free from discrimination based upon 

gender identity or transgender status. 

94. Defendant Department of Defense is an executive agency that, through Defendant 

Secretary Carter and Defendant Defense Health Agency, administers TRICARE, a health 

program that is subject to Section 1557. 

95. As the third-party administrator of TRICARE, Defendant Health Net is a health 

program that receives federal financial assistance and is therefore subject to Section 1557. 

96. The conduct of Defendants described herein constitutes sex discrimination against 

Plaintiff on the basis of his gender identity and transgender status in violation of Section 1557.  

Defendants have and are implementing a categorical exclusion for transition-related care by 

refusing coverage for GnRH analogues, such as Supprelin, for the treatment of gender dysphoria, 

where on information and belief, TRICARE covers those medications for other uses.  Defendants 

have also relied on that categorical exclusion to deny coverage for the office visits with 

Dr. Dempsher, an important part of the protocol for treating gender dysphoria in children and 

adolescents. 

97. Similarly, even if categorical exclusions were not specifically prohibited by 

Section 1557 and its implementing regulations, TRICARE’s ban on coverage for 

transition-related care also constitutes impermissible discrimination because of its direct 

discriminatory impact on transgender people.  The only individuals who require 

puberty-delaying medication to treat gender dysphoria are transgender individuals.  There is no 

non-discriminatory reason for excluding this medically necessary care from refusing coverage 

for transgender people, while covering GnRH analogues to non-transgender people for a variety 
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of health conditions.  Thus, by denying coverage for John, Defendants are inherently 

discriminating against him because of his gender identity. 

98. As a result of these acts of discrimination, Plaintiffs have suffered monetary 

damages in the form of out of pocket expenses for medically necessary care to treat John’s 

gender dysphoria including, but not limited to, the cost of the Vantas implant and the procedure 

to insert it into John’s arm and doctor’s visits with Dr. Dempsher.  Moreover, without 

declaratory relief prohibiting enforcement of TRICARE’s categorical exclusion, John will be 

forced to suffer through the irreversible bodily changes and the negative psychological effects of 

puberty when the Vantas implant needs to be replaced.  Although the Doe family was able to 

cover the medication and other health care costs to date, continuing to do so on an ongoing basis 

is beyond the family’s financial means. 

99. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, and damages. 

COUNT II 
(Discrimination Based on Disability in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 18116) 

100. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 99 above. 

101. Section 1557 also prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability by reference 

to Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (hereinafter “Section 504”). 

102. Gender dysphoria is a covered disability under Section 504 under 

29 U.S.C. § 705(20)(B).  John’s gender dysphoria constitutes an impairment that limits one or 

more major life functions, including, but not limited to, learning, concentrating, interacting with 

others, and caring for oneself.  Without mitigating measures, such as puberty-delaying 

medication, John’s ability to engage in or complete those major life activities would be 
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substantially impaired as evidenced by the psychological distress he experienced prior to his 

transition. 

103. Although Congress intended to exclude some physical and mental impairments 

from the definition of disability, none of those exclusions are applicable or enforceable as it 

pertains to gender dysphoria.  See 29 U.S.C. § 705(20)(F).  In particular, subsection (i) excludes 

the following conditions from coverage under Section 504:  “transvestism, transsexualism, 

pedophilia, exhibitionism, voyeurism, gender identity disorders not resulting from physical 

impairments, or other sexual behavior disorders.”  29 U.S.C. § 705(20)(F)(i) (emphasis added).  

However, since this exclusion was enacted, the understanding of gender dysphoria and 

transgender people has developed significantly.  The diagnostic criteria for gender dysphoria are 

substantially different from gender identity disorder, and the condition itself is no longer seen as 

a disorder at all, let alone a disorder of sexual behavior, but instead is correctly viewed as a 

serious medical condition that, if left untreated, can result in debilitating psychological distress. 

104. In addition to falling outside the plain meaning of the statute, 

Section 705(20)(F)(i) is unenforceable because it was motivated by “a bare congressional desire 

to harm a politically unpopular group.”  U.S. Dep’t of Agriculture v. Moreno, 413 U.S. 528, 534 

(1973); see also Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 620, 634-36 (1996).  The legislative history behind 

the exclusion is replete with evidence of Congress’s discriminatory intent to harm transgender 

people.  See, e.g., 135 Cong. Rec. S10753 (daily ed. Sept. 7, 1989) (seeking to amend the 

definition of disability so that it would not include conditions that had a “moral” component).  

Indeed, the United States has issued a statement of interest in a pending case supporting the 

position that gender dysphoria is protected under the ADA, a federal law that contains an 

identical exclusion to the one found at 29 U.S.C. § 705(20)(F).  Second Statement of Interest of 
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the United States at 6, Blatt v. Cabela’s Retail, No. 5:14-cv-4822-JFL (E.D. Pa. filed Aug. 15, 

2014) (urging the court to “adopt this proposed construction, under which Plaintiff’s gender 

dysphoria would not be excluded from the ADA’s definition of ‘disability.’”). 

105. GnRH analogues are used to treat a number of different conditions, including, but 

not limited to, precocious puberty, prostate cancer, and endometriosis.  TRICARE covers GnRH 

analogues as treatment for those conditions.  However, TRICARE continues to apply its 

categorical exclusion to deny coverage for GnRH analogues for the treatment of gender 

dysphoria, even though that treatment constitutes the standard of care and is the only safe and 

effective treatment for gender dysphoria in adolescence.  The conduct of Defendants described 

herein constitutes disability discrimination against Plaintiff on the basis of his gender dysphoria 

diagnosis in violation of Section 1557. 

106. As a result of these acts of discrimination, Plaintiffs have suffered monetary 

damages in the form of out of pocket expenses for medically necessary care to treat John’s 

gender dysphoria including, but not limited to, the cost of the Vantas implant and the procedure 

to insert it into John’s arm and doctor’s visits with Dr. Dempsher.  Moreover, without 

declaratory relief prohibiting enforcement of TRICARE’s categorical exclusion, John will be 

forced to suffer through the irreversible bodily changes and the negative psychological effects of 

puberty when the Vantas implant needs to be replaced.  Although the Doe family was able to 

cover the medication and other health care costs to date, continuing to do so on an ongoing basis 

is beyond the family’s financial means. 

107. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, and damages. 
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COUNT III 
(Discrimination Based on Association in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 18116) 

108. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 107 above. 

109. Section 1557 also prohibits associational discrimination.  Pursuant to 

45 C.F.R. § 92.209, it is impermissible to: 

exclude from participation in, deny the benefits of, or otherwise 
discriminate against an individual or entity in its health programs 
or activities on the basis of the race, color, national origin, sex, 
age, or disability of an individual with whom the individual or 
entity is known or believed to have a relationship or association. 

110. Defendants’ enforcement of TRICARE’s categorical exclusion denied Susan and 

James appropriate mental health treatment due to their association with John.  Specifically, 

Susan and James sought the services of Dr. Rosen to assist them in supporting and affirming 

John’s gender identity to help ensure that he develops into a healthy adult.  The services that 

Dr. Rosen provided are regularly covered for parents seeking guidance and support to cope with 

anxiety and other forms of psychological distress that are interfering with their ability to parent.  

However, Defendants retroactively denied Susan and James coverage and sought reimbursement 

for those same services, because they were sought to benefit John, a transgender boy with gender 

dysphoria. 

111. As a result of these acts of discrimination, Plaintiffs have suffered monetary 

damages in the form of out of pocket expenses for medically necessary care to treat John’s 

gender dysphoria, specifically the cost of Susan and James’s appointments with Dr. Rosen.  

Moreover, without declaratory relief prohibiting enforcement of TRICARE’s categorical 

exclusion, Susan and James will continue to be denied this important health care service to help 

treat John’s gender dysphoria.  Although the Doe family was able to cover the health care costs 
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associated with John’s medically necessary treatments for gender dysphoria to date, continuing 

to do so on an ongoing basis is beyond the family’s financial means. 

112. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, and damages. 

COUNT IV 
(Discrimination on the Basis of Sex in Violation of  
the Due Process Clause of U.S. Const., amend. V) 

113. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 112 above. 

114. The equal protection guarantee which is incorporated in the Due Process Clause 

of the Fifth Amendment requires the federal government to have a sufficient justification before 

enforcing laws and policies that treat groups of citizens differently.  When those classifications 

divide, or have the effect of dividing, people on the basis of sex, the government must be able to 

articulate an “exceedingly persuasive justification” to survive a constitutional challenge.  

United States v. Virginia, 518 U.S. 515, 546 (1996).  Moreover, the justification must be 

“genuine”—reasons that are “hypothesized or invented post hoc in response to litigation” will 

not suffice.  Id. at 533.  This burden “is demanding and it rests entirely on the [governmental 

entity].”  Id.  In this context, the definition of sex encompasses gender identity and transgender 

status.  Glenn v. Brumby, 663 F.3d 1312, 1317 (11th Cir. 2011). 

115. Defendants Department of Defense, Defense Health Agency, and TRICARE are 

federal governmental entities subject to the United States Constitution. 

116. Defendant Health Net is also a governmental actor and subject to the 

United States Constitution. 

117. Defendants’ continued enforcement of TRICARE’s categorical exclusion for 

transition-related care denies John Doe healthcare benefits that he otherwise would be entitled to, 

because he is transgender.  The TRICARE Policy Manual permits coverage for GnRH analogues 
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and mental health services for the treatment of numerous conditions for which that treatment is 

the standard of care.  Defendant’s conduct is contrary to the prevailing standards of medical care 

and denies transgender adolescents coverage for the only known safe and effective treatment for 

gender dysphoria.  Moreover, the decision to deny coverage is grounded in a categorical 

exclusion whose aim is to harm the transgender community, a politically unpopular group. 

118. Defendants’ policy—as expressed and enforced through the TRICARE Policy 

Manual—impermissibly and intentionally discriminates between transgender people in need of 

the medication at issue and non-transgender patients who need the same medication and 

treatments. 

119. There is no exceedingly persuasive justification furthered by denying access to 

safe, effective, and medically necessary treatments John needs, where those treatments are 

regularly covered for the treatment of other conditions.  The policy is not even so much as 

rationally related to a legitimate state interest. 

120. This TRICARE policy therefore violates the equal protection guarantees of the 

Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

121. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief. 

COUNT V 
(Discrimination on the Basis of Disability in Violation of  

the Due Process Clause of U.S. Const., amend. V) 

122. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 121 above. 

123. Defendants’ enforcement of TRICARE’s categorical exclusion of 

transition-related care also constitutes discrimination on the basis of disability.  When 

a governmental entity discriminates on the basis of disability, it cannot justify that discrimination 

with “irrational prejudice,” regardless of whether it is consistent with public opinion.  City of 
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Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432, 448-50 (1985); see also Palmore v. Sidoti, 466 

U.S. 429, 433 (1984) (“Private biases may be outside the reach of the law, but the law cannot, 

directly or indirectly, give them effect.”). 

124. Defendants’ policy—as expressed and enforced through the TRICARE Policy 

Manual—impermissibly and intentionally discriminates between people with gender dysphoria 

and those seeking coverage for conditions other than gender dysphoria. 

125. The policy is not even rationally related to a legitimate state interest, let alone 

able to survive any higher level of scrutiny.  The government furthers no rational interest by 

denying access to the only safe, effective, and medically necessary treatments John needs, where 

those treatments are regularly covered for the treatment of other conditions. 

126. This TRICARE policy therefore violates the equal protection guarantees of the 

Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution on the basis of disability. 

127. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief. 

COUNT VI 
(Violation of Substantive Due Process Afforded by the U.S. Const., amend V) 

128. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 

through 127 above. 

129. The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment places limitations on federal 

action that deprives individuals of life, liberty, or property. 

130. Substantive protections of the Due Process Clause include the right to avoid the 

disclosure of highly sensitive, personal information. 

131. Plaintiff John Doe has a fundamental right to privacy in preventing the release of, 

and in deciding in what circumstances (if any) to release highly sensitive, personal information 
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related to his assigned gender at birth, especially as the release of such information would subject 

him to psychological harm and could additionally expose him to harassment and bodily harm. 

132. John and his family have undertaken significant steps to ensure that John’s 

transgender status remains private and prevent even inadvertent disclosure of that information.  

For example, in addition to obtaining a court-ordered name change for John, Susan and James 

worked with John’s first-grade teacher and administrators to ensure that he was able to transition 

in a way that was discrete and comfortable for him.  Since his transition, the Doe family does not 

disclose John’s transgender status to others, is listed as male on Susan and James’s tax returns, 

and participates in recreational sports, such as hockey, on a boys’ team.  Susan and James also 

plan to update John’s passport and social security record to reflect the correct gender marker, a 

step they hesitated to take due to uncertainty of how it may affect insurance coverage for John’s 

transition-related care. 

133. If Defendants were permitted to continue enforcing the categorical ban on 

transition-related care, the Doe family would be financially unable to cover the costs associated 

with the medically necessary treatment for John’s gender dysphoria.  Plaintiffs’ inability to cover 

that care will result in John developing unwanted and irreversible secondary-sex characteristics, 

such as breasts, a feminine appearing face, and wide hips, all of which are inconsistent with 

John’s gender identity and expose the fact that he was assigned female at birth to the public. 

134. There is no compelling state interest that is furthered by denying access to the 

medically necessary treatment Dr. Dempsher has prescribed for John, nor is Defendants’ 

categorical exclusion narrowly tailored or the least restrictive alternative for promoting a state 

interest.  The policy is not even so much as rationally related to a legitimate state interest. 
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135. Further, Plaintiffs’ privacy interests outweigh any purported interest the 

Defendants could assert. 

136. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court: 

A. Enter a declaratory judgment that Defendants’ denial of coverage for GnRH 

analogues and related treatment sought to treat gender dysphoria: 

1. Violates Section 1557 by impermissibly discriminating against 

transgender people covered by TRICARE on the basis of sex and disability; 

2. Violates Section 1557 by impermissibly discriminating against the family 

members and caregivers covered by TRICARE on the basis of their association with a 

transgender person; 

3. Violates the guarantee of equal protection under the Fifth Amendment of 

the United States Constitution by denying safe and effective treatment consistent with the 

standard of medical care where those same treatments are made available to other groups of 

patients, and the denial is based on a person’s gender identity or gender dysphoria diagnosis; and 

4. Violates the Plaintiffs’ substantive due process protected by the Fifth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

B. Issue an injunction prohibiting Defendants from enforcement of TRICARE’s 

categorical exclusion for transition-related care unless there is non-discriminatory basis for 

denying coverage, including prohibiting Defendants from denying Plaintiffs the necessary care to 

treat Plaintiff John Doe’s gender dysphoria, including coverage for GnRH analogues and related 

treatment; 
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C. Enter a declaratory judgment that the policies underlying the TRICARE and 

Health Net decisions to deny prescription of Vantas and Supprelin, and treatment by 

Drs. Dempsher and Rosen are illegal as invalid and unconstitutional; 

D. Award Plaintiffs damages in an amount to be established at trial; 

E. Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses pursuant to 

42 U.S.C. § 1988 or other applicable statutes; and 

F. Award Plaintiffs such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper. 
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Dated:  June 14, 2016 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Brent P. Ray     

 Brent P. Ray (Illinois State Bar No. 6291911) 
Kirkland & Ellis LLP 
300 North LaSalle 
Chicago, Illinois  60654 
Tel: (312) 862-2000 
Fax: (312) 862-2208 
brent.ray@kirkland.com 
 
J. Keith Kobylka (pro hac vice pending) 
Ashley L. Borom (pro hac vice pending) 
601 Lexington Avenue 
New York, New York  10022 
Tel: (212) 446-4800 
Fax: (212) 446-6460 
Keith.kobylka@kirkland.com 
Ashley.borom@kirkland.com 
 
Amy Whelan (pro hac vice pending) 
Asaf Orr (pro hac vice pending) 
National Center for Lesbian Rights 
870 Market Street 
Suite 370 
San Francisco, California  94012 
Tel: (415) 392-6257 ext. 326 
Fax: (415) 392-8442 
AOrr@NCLRights.org 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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TRICARE is a registered trademark of the Department of Defense, Defense Health Agency. All rights reserved.

PGBA, LLC
TRICARE NORTH REGION CLAIMS
P.O. BOX 870140
SURFSIDE BEACH, SC 29587-9740

March 28, 2016

DUPLICATE COPY

Enclosed is your TRICARE Explanation of Benefits for services received.

Sincerely,

Your TRICARE Service Team

Hello,

v v

v

v v

v

TRICARE - North Region

TRICARE - North Region PGBA, LLC PO Box 870140 Surfside Beach, SC 29587-9740
Customer Service: 1-877-TRICARE www.myTRICARE.com by PGBA
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Understanding Your TRICARE Explanation of Benefits (EOB)

This TRICARE EOB serves as a record of claims paid or denied and as a notice to send to secondary insurance carriers when applicable. Since the secondary insurance carrier may
keep this notice, be sure to retain a copy for your records. If you submitted other claims that are not shown, they will be included on an EOB for the period in which the claim
processed to completion.

Please review the services/supplies on the front of this EOB. If you find any services or supplies that you did not receive or that you were charged by a health care professional you
did not see, please call the Health Net Fraud and Abuse Hotline at 1-800-977-6761.

have a valid military ID card, and you must be eligible on the Defense
Enrollment Eligibility Reporting System (DEERS). Has your eligibilty or the
eligibility of any of your dependents changed? The sponsor is responsible for
reporting changes to Defense Enrollment Eligibility Reporting System
(DEERS). If a claim is paid for an ineligible beneficiary, the sponsor may be
held financially responsible. For issues related to eligibility, please call the
DEERS office toll-free: 1-800-538-9552.

Claims are denied if received after the deadline. You may request a timely
filing waiver by submitting documentation that verifies one of the following:

Retroactive eligibility
Retroactive Non-Availability Statement for inpatient mental health
Mental incompetence when no legal guardian was appointed
The date of the Explanation of Benefits from the patient's other
health insurance is within 12 months of your submission
Proof of claims submission before the filing time limit

Send your request for a timely filing waiver to:
Fax Number: 1-888-250-4510 OR
TRICARE North Region Priority
PO Box 870146
Surfside Beach, SC 29587-9746

POS allows a patient to see any certified TRICARE provider without
coordinating an authorization or referral through their Primary Care Manager
(PCM), but there are additional costs.

entitled, you may file a grievance. Your grievance must be filed in writing by you (or your representative). You may file your grievance with a TRICARE Advocate at your
local TRICARE Service Center or send it to:

Fax Number: 1-888-317-6155 OR
TRICARE North Region Grievances
PO Box 2399
Virginia Beach, VA 23450-2399

have the right to request a reconsideration. Your signed, written request must state

number or address No Later Than (NLT) 90 days from the date of this notice. If the
postmark on the envelope is not legible, then the date of receipt is deemed the date of
filing. Include a copy of this notice. On receiving your request, all TRICARE claims
for the entire course of treatment will be reviewed.

The beneficiary (including minors)
The parent or guardian representing a minor beneficiary
The non-network participating provider of services
A representative appointed by the proper appealing party
(Must be in writing and be signed by the proper appealing party, or the
representative must be court-appointed)

Please send all appeals and/or reconsiderations to
Fax Number: 1-888-458-2554 OR
TRICARE North Region Appeals
PO Box 2606
Virginia Beach, VA 23450-2606

NOTE: Claims denied for Active Duty Service Members require a DHA waiver. You
must secure a DHA waiver before we can reconsider paying a service not covered by
TRICARE. To obtain a waiver, contact your Service Project Officer at your Uniformed
Services Headquarters.

please send to: Fax Number: 1-888-432-7077 OR
TRICARE North Region Correspondence
PO Box 870141
Surfside Beach, SC 29587-9741 OR
Visit www.myTRICARE.com

NOTE: Claims denied for Active Duty Service Members require a DHA waiver. You
must secure a DHA waiver before we can reconsider paying a service not covered by
TRICARE. To obtain a waiver, contact your Service Project Officer at your Uniformed
Services Headquarters.

specific procedure, go to www.hnfs.com. Your provider can easily submit a request
for prior authorization. For new Authorization/Referrals, please send to:

Fax Number: 1-888-299-4181 OR
TRICARE North Region Authorizations/Referrals
PO Box 9470
Virginia Beach, VA 23450-9470

New Claims Submission
TRICARE North Region Claims
PO Box 870140
Surfside Beach, SC 29587-9740

To Report Suspected Fraud or Abuse
Fax Number: 1-888-881-3644 OR
TRICARE North Region Program Integrity
PO Box 10490
Virginia Beach, VA 23450-0490

Direct Secure Fax Numbers
Third Party Liability (TPL) Forms: 1-888-228-2717
Other Health Insurance (OHI) Updates: 1-888-237-6262
Authorizations to Disclose information: 1-888-225-3545

Customer Service Number
1-877-TRICARE (1-877-874-2273)

Corrected Claims or Correspondence
Fax Number: 1-888-432-7077 OR
TRICARE North Region Correspondence
PO Box 870141
Surfside Beach, SC 29587-9741

With Web self-service options you can:

Check claim status, authorization/referral status, PCM name, out-of-pocket expenses and Other Health Insurance (OHI) information
View/print TRICARE Explanation of Benefits (EOB) and Annual Benefits Summaries

A. TRICARE Eligibility: To be eligible for TRICARE benefits, you must

B. Timely Filing: TRICARE guidelines require claims to be filed within one

Only the following individuals may file an appeal:

Additional Contact Information

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT TRICARE - NORTH REGION

year from the date of service or the discharge date for inpatient services.

•
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

C. Patient Deductibles: TRICARE Standard patients must meet their fiscal
year deductible based on the sponsor's pay grade. TRICARE Prime patients do
not have a deductible unless they choose the Point of Service (POS) option.

Standard Coverage Deductible
Active Duty E-4 and below

Individual - $50
Family - $100

Prime Coverage POS Deductible
Individual - $300
Family - $600
plus 50% cost-share

Retirees/Active Duty E-5 and above
Individual - $150
Family - $300

Grievances: If a provider, employee of Health Net Federal Services, Inc. or its partners, failed to give you the quality of care and service to which you believe you are

D. Right To Appeal: If you disagree with the determination on your claim, you

the specific matter with which you disagree and MUST be sent to the below Fax

E. Non-appealable denials: If you have a question about a non-appealable denial,

F. Authorizations/Referrals: To see if an authorization or referral is required for a

Your best sources for TRICARE claims information are www.hnfs.com and www.myTRICARE.com. You can save time as a registered member of myTRICARE Secure.

Pay TRICARE enrollment fees
AskUs confidential questions and receive quick answers in your secure myTRICARE mailbox and more
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TRICARE is a registered trademark of the Department of Defense, Defense Health Agency. All rights reserved.

PGBA, LLC
TRICARE NORTH REGION CLAIMS
P.O. BOX 870140
SURFSIDE BEACH, SC 29587-9740

TRICARE EXPLANATION OF BENEFITS

1-877-TRICARE (1-877-874-2273)

1 of 1

DUPLICATE COPY

Date of Notice:
Sponsor SSN:
Sponsor Name:
Beneficiary Name:

March 28, 2016

Benefits were payable to:

ACCREDO HEALTH GROUP INC
PO BOX 99768
CHICAGO IL 60693

Services Provided By/
Date of Services

Services
Provided

Amount
Billed

TRICARE
Approved APC#

See
Remarks

ACCREDO HEALTH GROUP INC
03/14/2016 001 Histrelin implant (supprelin (J9226) 30,489.35 0.00 1, 2, 3
Totals: 30,489.35 0.00

Claim
Summary

Beneficiary
Liability Summary

Benefit Period
Summary

Amount Billed: Deductible:
TRICARE Approved: Copayment:
Non-covered: Cost Share:
Paid by Beneficiary:
Other Insurance:
Paid to Provider:
Paid to Beneficiary:
Check Number:

30,489.35 0.00 Fiscal Year Beginning:
0.00 0.00 October 01, 2015

30,489.35 0.00 Individual Family
0.00 Patient Responsibility: 0.00 Deductible: 0.00 0.00
0.00 Catastrophic Cap: 0.00
0.00
0.00

Remarks:

1 - NONCOVERED DIAGNOSIS. FOR INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR RIGHT TO APPEAL THIS DENIAL, PLEASE SEE
BLOCK D ON THE BACK OF THIS SUMMARY.

2 - HAVE YOU CONSIDERED USING TRICARE PHARMACY HOME DELIVERY? COPAYMENTS ARE $0 FOR GENERIC
FORMULARY MEDICATIONS. VISIT WWW.EXPRESS-SCRIPTS.COM/TRICARE AND CLICK ON THE PILL BOTTLE
FOR MORE INFORMATION.

3 - DO YOU CURRENTLY USE TOBACCO AND WANT TO QUIT? TRICARE'S SMOKING CESSATION RESOURCES CAN
BE FOUND BY VISITING WWW.HNFS.COM/GO/TOBACCO.

This is a statement of the action taken on your TRICARE claim.
Keep this notice for your records.

If you have questions regarding this notice, please call or write us at telephone number/address listed above.

Claim Number:

THIS IS NOT A BILL

Page
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WWW.EXPRESS-SCRIPTS.COM/TRICARE
WWW.HNFS.COM/GO/TOBACCO.
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